IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

TOMMY SANDS GROOVER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CLERIA, SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM THE TRIAL COURT'S
ACTIONS DENYING A STAY, A HEARING
ON DEFENDANT'S 3.850 MOTION, AND DENYING
THE RELIEF REQUESTED THEREIN, AND MEMORANDUM
IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT'S REQUEST TO THIS COURT
TO ENTER A STAY OF EXECUTION

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative

MARK EVAN OLIVE Litigation Director

MICHAEL A. MELLO Assistant Capital Collateral Representative

DAVID ADAM REISER Of Counsel

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE
Independent Life Building
225 West Jefferson Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

Tommy Groover was tried, convicted of first degree murder, and sentenced to death while he was improperly drugged by the State of Florida. He is mentally retarded, neurologically dysfunctional, has an I.Q. of 64, and has been brain damaged since birth. Jail personnel improperly administered to Tommy massive quantities of Mellaril, a powerful anti-psychotic drug, during critical pre-trial, trial, and capital sentencing proceedings. Tommy Groover is brain damaged, not psychotic. The improper state drugging voided what little intellectual capacity brain-damaged Tommy Groover could normally muster.

Tommy Groover was prepared to demonstrate below that he was tried while he was incompetent. He also offered to prove that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to conduct a reasonable investigation into Tommy's background, which would have uncovered substantial evidence in mitigation of punishment.

No psychiatric or psychological evaluation was conducted at trial, and the judge and jury were thus denied the compelling mitigation information that Tommy's actions were not entirely volitional. The court below summarily denied relief, without conducting an evidentiary hearing. The denial of this and every other claim presented was on the merits of the claims.

In this brief, Appellant will present three of the claims presented to the court below, and will show that summary denial was improper. The claims presented here are 1) that Tommy Groover is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that

he was incompetent to stand trial and that trial counsel unreasonably failed to discover it; 2) that he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that he was denied effective assistance of counsel at sentencing; and 3) that he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that the state violated his due process rights and provided an unfair trial by not revealing cash payments made by prosecutor Ralph Greene to virtually all the state's trial witnesses. The denial of all other claims presented in the Rule 3.850 Motion and supporting memorandum filed in the trial court is also appealed, and each of the claims for relief contained in the 3.850 Motion and the corresponding sections of the Motion and Memorandum in Support of Application for Stay of Execution are incorporated in this brief by specific reference. Appellant does not intend to waive any claims; time simply does not permit the inclusion of every claim in this brief.

SUMMARY DISMISSAL ERROR

I.

THIS COURT SHOULD STAY MR. GROOVER'S EXECUTION SO AS TO ALLOW AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS CLAIM THAT HE WAS INCOMPETENT TO STAND TRIAL, AND HIS CLAIM THAT TRIAL AND PRE-TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL REGARDING MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES

A movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on claims raised in a Rule 3.850 proceeding unless "the files and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief. . . . " Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure; O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So.2d 1354, 1355 (Fla. 1984) (copy attached as Appendix 1). As this Court noted in Jones v. State, So.2d ___ (Fla. 1985) (copy attached as Appendix 2), the disposition of an incompetency claim in post-conviction is governed by the rule:

Jones has filed affidavits . . . from various doctors opining that he suffers from organic brain damage and was and is incompetent to stand trial. The state urges that these affidavits are refuted by the trial record which shows that Jones was competent to stand trial and that the trial court did not err in denying the motion without an evidentiary Whatever the ultimate merits of the hearing. respective positions, we do not agree that the motion, files, and records conclusively show that Jones is not entitled to any relief. We reverse and remand . . . [for] an evidentiary hearing.

Tommy Groover, like R. L. Jones, was denied his right to an evidentiary hearing. A stay is proper.

A. RIGHT TO BE TRIED WHILE COMPETENT

"A person accused of a crime who is mentally incompetent to stand trial shall not be proceeded against while he is incompetent." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.210. It is simply unfair to try someone when the person has no ability to meaningfully participate in proceedings which will subject him to a loss of liberty or, as here, life. This fundamental unfairness is prohibited by the fifth, sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution, and by parallel state constitutional provisions.

The constitutional test for incompetency is articulated in Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960), and is well known to, and oft quoted by, this Court:

[T]he "test must be whether he has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding -- and whether he has a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him."

Id. See also Drope v. Mississippi, 420 U.S. 162 (1975); Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966); Bishop v. United States, 350 U.S. 961 (1956). Florida decisions regularly analyze and apply this test, and decisions from this Court reflect an especially vigilant concern for protecting the rights of incompetents. See, e.g., Florida v. W.S.L., No. 67,282 (Fla. March 27, 1986); Jones v. State, 478 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 1985); Hill v. State, 473 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1985) (copy attached as Appendix 3); Gibson v. State,

474 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 1985); Christopher v. State, 416 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1982); Lane v. State, 388 So. 2d 1022 (Fla. 1980). Cf.

Johnson v. Feder, No. 66,554 (Fla. March 20, 1986) (judicial hearing required for continued commitment of one found not guilty by reason of insanity). See also ABA Mental Health Standards,

Part IV, Competence to Stand Trial, 7-4.1.

The <u>Dusky</u> test is applied by evaluating numerous subjective and objective criteria, many (but not all) of which have been incorporated into statutes and rules. <u>See A.B.A. Mental Health</u> Standard 7-4.1 and Commentary. Such nonexclusive criteria are contained in Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.210 and 3.211:

In considering the issue of competence to stand trial, the examining experts should consider and include in their report, but are not limited to, an analysis of the mental condition of the defendant as it affects each of the following factors:

- (i) Defendant's appreciation of the charges;
- (ii) Defendant's appreciation of the range and nature of possible penalties;
- (iii) Defendant's understanding of the adversary nature of the legal process;
- (iv) Defendant's capacity to disclose to attorney pertinent facts surrounding the alleged offense;
- (v) Defendant's ability to relate to attorney;
- (vi) Defendant's ability to assist attorney in planning defense;
- (vii) Defendant's capacity to realistically challenge prosecution witnesses;
- (viii) Defendant's ability to manifest
 appropriate courtroom behavior;
- (ix) Defendant's capacity to testify
 relevantly;
- (x) Defendant's motivation to help himself in the legal process;

(xi) Defendant's capacity to cope with the stress of incarceration prior to trial.

In <u>Lane</u>, this Court discussed other relevant factors, based upon Pate v. Robinson:

Evidence of a defendant's mental behavior, his demeanor at trial, and any prior medical opinion on competence to stand trial are all relevant in determining whether further inquiry is required, but that even one of these factors standing alone may, in some circumstances, be sufficient.

388 So. 2d at 1025.

State procedures which fail to provide adequate resolution of competency issues violate the due process clause of the fourteenth amendment. Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966). If an incompetency issue, which has not been adequately resolved, is properly raised, an evidentiary hearing is mandatory. Hill, supra.

This Court has held that retroactive determinations of incompetency are impractical, as they fail to adequately protect a defendant's due process rights. "Such a hearing should be conducted contemporaneously with the trial." Hill, 473 So. 2d at 1259. Thus, whether the procedural failure is found on direct appeal, State v. W.S.L.; Gibson v. State, or in post-conviction, Hill, the remedy is to "vacate the conviction and sentence and remand with directions that the State may proceed to re-prosecute the defendant after it has been determined that he is competent to stand trial." Hill, 473 So. 2d at 1260; see also W.S.L., slip op. at 2 ("Such a hearing must be conducted contemporaneously

with the trial."); Gibson, 474 So. 2d at 1184.

This is true because competency is flatly nonwaivable: "it is contradictory to argue that a defendant may be incompetent, and yet knowingly or intelligently 'waive' his right to have the court determine his capacity to stand trial." Pate, 383 U.S. at 384. For whatever reason competency is not adequately resolved pretrial, if a bona fide question of competency is raised later, an adequate Pate hearing must occur.

B. THE QUESTION OF MR. GROOVER'S INCOMPETENCE HAS BEEN FAIRLY RAISED BUT IMPROPERLY RESOLVED

No question of competency was raised at trial. No mental health evaluation occurred at all. The trial court's sentencing order emphasizes that no mental health issue was ever raised or ever became a part of the record at trial or sentencing.

The post-conviction record is not so silent. As will be shown, incompetency was fairly raised by the 3.850 Motion. With nothing in the trial court record at all, much less information to demonstrate conclusively the meritlessness of the claim, an evidentiary hearing is necessary. The lower court did not explain why the records were so conclusive, but Appellant will assume that it is because no issue or evidence of incompetency appeared at trial. This catch-22 will be discussed below.

1. Tommy Groover's Brain is Damaged and He Was Drugged at Trial Tommy Groover's brain has <u>never</u> worked right. His

lifelong cerebral dysfunction was initiated by his alcoholic father's merciless, repetitive beatings of Tommy's mother (and, consequently, Tommy), when she was two months' pregnant with Tommy. Birth was similarly damaging, as Tommy was pulled from the womb with forceps which literally flattened his skull and mashed his brain. This rude entry into the world made Tommy understandably "different," and he failed from the first at the simplest children's games and most basic socializing tasks. still cannot read or write. His damaged brain took more and more abuse as Tommy grew physically, and he was led and fell into use of deadly organic solvents. "Huffing" toluene and model airplane glue, gasoline, and other readily available central nervous system destroyers, 9-year-old Tommy unwittingly contributed to his own mental demise. He ultimately and naturally moved on to perhaps the worst of all possible illicit drugs: PCP. addiction to this recognized producer of organic mental disorder finished the job begun in the womb: Tommy Groover is fundamentally addled, severely brain damaged, and neurologically dysfunctional.

The trial court knew none of this in 1982-83, except that Tommy was illiterate. Also unknown and equally disquieting is that the State functionally lobotomized Tommy by administering massive doses of Mellaril to him throughout critical pretrial and trial proceedings, which completely robbed him of what little ability he had to think and function at the barest minimal level.

Thus mentally crippled, Tommy Groover was allowed to proceed to trial, and to make "decisions" about such axiomatic but complex constitutional guarantees as the rights to plead, confess, withdraw a plea, and testify. An evidentiary hearing is necessary to demonstrate the following:

Life History: The single common and consistent thread running through Tommy Groover's life is the thread of neurological impairment. The limited chance for normalcy imposed by his brutal prenatal treatment and traumatic birth was dashed by subsequent events in childhood and adolescence, events beyond this already brain-damaged individual's control. A relatively simple and direct investigation of Tommy Groover's background would have produced the following:

- a. Tommy was born April 3, 1958, in Jacksonville, Florida. His mother, Lois Hancock, was separated from Tommy's father, Daniel Groover, at the time of Tommy's birth, having broken free of his alcoholic tantrums which frequently left her badly beaten. She was forced to fend for herself by the time of Tommy's birth, much as her own mother had struggled, alone and destitute, to raise Lois and her five siblings in North Carolina Lois never even met her own father until she was eleven years old. (Affidavit of Lois Hancock, App. I).
- b. Lois Hancock was first married to Thomas

 Harrington when she was fourteen years old, and her first child,

 Katie, was born shortly thereafter. This marriage ended in

divorce, Katie was given to Lois's ex-husband's sister, and Lois moved from North Carolina to Florida, where she met Daniel Groover. They were immediately married, and as it turned out, young Lois had moved from a bad marriage to a nightmare marriage. Daniel Groover was a sick, alcoholic, wife-abuser, who ultimately drove Lois out of her second marriage after four years, at age 19. Lois describes the abuse:

When Tommy was born in April, his father and I were not together anymore. I had to leave Daniel before I even knew I was pregnant with Tommy because I just couldn't take his abuse any longer. We always had trouble because of his drinking. He would drink at a bar or somewhere and then come home and beat up on I never knew why he did that. seemed like he would get mad about something while he was out and then come home and take it out on me. When I was pregnant with Lee, he beat me up so bad that he almost killed He'd jump on me and tear me up. afraid if I didn't take it, that he would go after one of the kids. Finally, I couldn't take it any more, so I left.

Id.

, , , , , ,

c. Pearl Williams, Lois's landlord during the illfated Groover union, describes Daniel Groover as the source of
all Lois's and her children's problems, because he was "an
alcoholic and mean as a snake. I never saw him sober. He was
away from home most of the time and did not help Lois care for or
support" the family. (Affidavit of Pearl Williams, App. J).
Even after they were separated, beatings continued. One beating
that left both Lois and Tommy scarred was particularly hellish,

and is well documented:

Lois and the children were in such need that she finally decided she had to go to court to try to get child support from Daniel Groover. She couldn't handle doing that on her own, so I had to help her fill out papers and go before Judge Dorcas Drake. I went with her to the hearing, and I shall never forget what she looked like that day. She was black and blue over her entire body from a beating Daniel Groover had given her. Lois showed me all the places he had hit her and all the Her buttocks were dark blue, almost black. Daniel Groover had struck blows with his fists to her head, face, neck, breasts and abdomen. When he had finished that, he'd thrown her down the entire flight of outside stairs that led down from their second-story apartment to the ground below. The neighbors who lived below them saw him do it and told me about it.

The most frightening thing was that Lois was pregnant with Tommy at the time of this beating. I don't know how she survived it, and I was horrified to think about what it would do to the baby.

Id.

d. Lois describes $\underline{\mathsf{two}}$ beatings in her early pregnancy with Tommy:

When I left Daniel, I was about two months pregnant with Tommy. I had been pregnant while I was still with Daniel, and he had beaten me at least twice in that time. He would tie me down on the bed, sit on my stomach, and beat me real bad on the face and head. I was terrified of what that did to the baby I was carrying. After Tommy was born and it was obvious that he was different from other children his age, I thought his father's beating me while I was pregnant had damaged Tommy.

(App. I.)

e. The rest of Lois's pregnancy with Tommy was difficult as well. Illnesses during the pregnancy complicated birth, and Tommy suffered the damaging consequences:

My pregnancy with Tommy was not easy. About seven and a half months into pregnancy, I had low hemoglobin and had to have a pint of blood every week. Then, three or four weeks before Tommy was born, I had a kidney infection and my feet and legs swelled up real bad. I was going to a County Clinic for checkups. The clinic just had nurses and to see a doctor, I had to go to the hospital. The nurses at the clinic told me I should go to the hospital and see a doctor to get the problem cleared up. I didn't go to the hospital, but tried to take care of the problem by myself. Tommy was supposed to be born on March 27, but I didn't go into labor until April 3. I always thought that the terrible swelling kept me from going into labor. Once labor started, it didn't last that long, but it was very difficult. were at least two nurses and three doctors in the delivery room. There was so much commotion in the room that I couldn't tell what was going on or what the problem was. People were running around trying to get blood for me, but getting the wrong kind and having to go get more. Every time Tommy seemed ready to be born, he would turn a different direction and wouldn't come out. Finally, the doctors had to pull him out with forceps.

Id.

at birth, and stayed that way for months. Id. Lois massaged
Tommy's head during this period, trying to get it "normal," a process which in itself may have exacerbated the birth-related brain defect. During this period, Tommy could not hold food and constantly threw up milk. When he got over the milk problem,

Lois recognized a character trait that stalked Tommy all of his life: "He was a lot different from other baby boys I had been around -- much quieter." Id. This uncharacteristic infant quietness was symptomatic of the brain damage which shaped Tommy's life.

- Lois was required to exist and manage in a manner known and suffered only by abused, abandoned, and ignored single mothers, rejected by society and tortured by social service agencies and hapless domestic relation courts. She was destitute with a family, and while neighbors tried to help, public assistance was not forthcoming, and she strictly fended for herself. (Apps. I, J.) She had to get a job working at night in a nursing home and to try to raise three children during the She lived with her sister and her sister's five children for a short period. They were so destitute, they "were lucky if [they] got a peanut butter sandwich everyday.")Affidavit of Penny Lee Groover, App. H.) Tommy's teeth were very bad as a result of this nutritional abyss and the lack of monies for proper medical and dental care. Id. Their father absolutely refused to pay any support, and came around only to sexually abuse Tommy's sisters, Sabrina Groover and Penny Lee Groover, "breathing his horrible beer breath." (Apps. G, H.) This abuse began when Sabrina was two years old, but no one believed it or acted to stop it. (App. G.)
 - h. When Tommy was nine months old, the "family" moved in

with Roy Brooks. He was the only real father the children knew, but he was never around either. He worked as a truck driver, and was away for extended periods of time. Lois and Roy had two children who had to be given away due to the impossible financial conditions. (Apps. G and H.)

- i. When Tommy was three years old, he ran a high and sustained fever for about a week. After it continued unabated, Lois finally took him to a doctor who treated the fever, and it subsided.
- j. Evidence of Tommy's brain damage surfaced early. All who were around him acknowledge that Tommy was "different" as an infant and toddler. (Apps. G, H, I and J.) He had difficulty even conceptualizing children's games and because of his inability to play right, the other children would complain and harass him. (App. J.) This childhood hazing foreshadowed the complete rejection and ridicule Tommy was to receive as he later failed miserably in school. Pearl Williams, harkening back to the in utero beating that was to haunt Tommy, watched Tommy's struggle with secret dread: "I explained to the children that [Tommy] would learn ... eventually, though I feared privately that he never would, knowing, as I did of the injuries his mother had sustained during her pregnancy." (App. J.)
- k. Tommy was in fact programmed <u>not</u> to learn, and school did nothing to break his inherent limitations. As school records indicate, see Appendix M, Tommy's achievement in first

grade was abysmal, and subsequent grades were worse. The following is a sampling from the records:

- (1) Three months into first grade, Tommy was described as "not yet doing first grade work. I'm sure that he will have to repeat first grade." The problem was that his "[p]rogress is poor in all areas," as he had trouble following directions and organizing time. Nevertheless, with "D" and "F" grades, he was "socially promoted" to the second grade.
- do second grade work. He consistently performed way below his peers, and was retained in the second grade. An evaluation of his social and personal assets graded out at the lowest possible score. He was then pushed through the third grade with "unsatisfactory" and "failing" scores. Fourth and fifth grades were the same, with continued low marks all around, but with complete abdication of responsibility by teachers and counselors. Tommy continued to be socially promoted and could not read or write the simplest sentence. He was "totally unprepared for the fifth grade," with a teacher determining "not [to] force[] Tommy to attempt work which he is not able to do." He was later socially promoted to the seventh grade, socially promoted to the ninth grade, and retained in the ninth grade.
- (3) The <u>reasons</u> for his ineptitude became partially apparent to school officials in the seventh grade, but they did <u>nothing</u> but ignore the issue. He was referred to and tested by

school psychological services. Background information confirmed that he "has not performed at grade level for many years." Upon psychological testing, it was discovered that Tommy was mentally retarded, and placement in an "educable mentally retarded" program was recommended, but did not occur. "His language development seems to be somewhat impaired by the inability to call to consciousness an interpretation of facts and experiences which he should have gained from surrounding environment." Of course, his "surrounding environment" had unjustifiably promoted him at school, and ignored him at home. In a classic understatement of testing results, the school psychiatrist opined: "Tommy's Bender record indicates a perceptual lag."

1. Family members witnessed the incredible psychological turmoil created by Tommy's brain-damaged attempt to deal with unyielding school bureaucracy and the school system's utter failure to help Tommy learn. Tommy's sister, Penny Lee, explains it:

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