IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TOMMY S. GROOVER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

68,845

CASE NO.:

JUN 2 1986

Deputy Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA SMITH HILLYER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MARK C. MENSER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301

(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Motion to Vacate failed to state grounds for any relief because the grounds asserted therein were either 1) previously litigated at trial and on appeal; 2) issues that could have been raised at trial and on appeal; 3) failed to state grounds for relief as a matter of law; or 4) refuted by the state court records. In short, the trial judge did not err in summarily denying the Motion to Vacate; nor did he err in denying the Motion for Stay of Execution and request for evidentiary hearing.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN SUMMARILY DENYING THE MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENTS AND SENTENCES AND DENYING THE MOTION FOR STAY OF EXECUTION.

The Appellee respectfully submits that the Motion to Vacate, though voluminous, failed to state grounds for any relief because the grounds asserted therein were either: (1) previously litigated at trial and on appeal; (2) issues that could have been raised at trial and on appeal; (3) failed to state grounds for relief as a matter of law; or (4) refuted by the state court records.

The 88-page Motion filed by Appellant raised 14 separate claims for relief, including claims that both attorneys that represented him at trial were ineffective. The specific claims raised in said motion were:

- Incompetence to stand trial;
- 2. Improper introduction of statements given in fulfull-ment of the guilt plea;
- 3. Denial of expert witnesses to determine his mental condition for use at guilt and penalty proceedings;
- 4. Ineffectiveness of counsel in failing to present mitigating evidence of mental disorders and drug use;

- 5. Improper payment of monies by the prosecutor to state witnesses:
 - 6. Improper argument of counsel;
- 7. Indictment filed after withdrawal of the plea constituted prosecutorial misconduct;
- 8. Improper conduct on part of former counsel in testifying before the court on the motion to suppress;
- 9. Appellant's initial attorney was ineffective in advising him as to the consequences of the plea agreement;
- 10. Ineffectiveness of counsel in failing to present the defense of voluntary intoxication;
- 11. Ineffectiveness of counsel in failing to object to the use of the deposition for impeachment purposes;
- 12. Ineffectiveness of counsel in failing to investigate and present evidence of coercion in the guilt and penalty phase;
- 13. The death sentence was improperly imposed because the Appellant exercised his right to trial by jury; and
- 14. The trial judge improperly considered criminal activity not resulting in a conviction in imposing sentence.

Ground 6 was raised on the direct appeal but not addressed by this Court in its opinion simply because the comments were not objected to at trial. The procedural default cannot be obviated by the simple filing of a motion to vacate raising a ground that could have, if properly preserved at trial, been raised on appeal. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1985).

Grounds 2,6,7,8,9,13 and 16 were all grounds that could have and should have been raised at trial and, if preserved, on direct appeal, and therefore were not cognizable by motion pursuant to 3.850. Spinkellink v. State, 350 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1977); Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980); Downs v. State, 453 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1984); Johnson v. State, supra; Middleton v. State, 465 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985); Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985) and Quince v. State, 10 F.L.W. 493 (Fla. 1985). Since these issues could have been raised and are barred from consideration the Appellee will not address them on their merits since to do so would allow Appellant to claim that Appellee waived the procedural bar.

Appellant's claim that he was incompetent to stand trial based upon the affidavits contained in the appendix, to-wit: The affidiavits of Krop, Barnes and Greenberg, are inadequate to establish incompetency and they are refuted by the record and findings of the trial judge. Appellant's reliance upon Hill v. State, 473 So.2d 1253 (1985) is totally misplaced. The Appellee submits this case is governed by Adams v. State, 456 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1984). In Hill the defendant at trial exhibited "unusual behavior" indicating his lack of appreciation of the nature of the proceedings against him. He attempted to walk out of the courtrooms, thought the trial was a game and laughed with friends in the courtroom against his attorney's instructions; moreover, testimony by his attorney's investigator clearly revealed he could not assist him in his investigation

of the case. The mental health experts in the case had personally examined Hill. The Hill case correctly held that based upon the record at trial, the trial judge should have conducted a competency hearing as required by <u>Dusky v. United States</u>, 362 U.S. 401 (1960). In the instant case, the various statements given by Appellant (R 128-185; 439-634), his testimony at the guilt plea (T 58-68) and the motion to suppress (T.T. 174-188) clearly demonstrate that the Appellant understood the nature of the proceedings. Moreover, Mr. Nichols' testimony at the suppression hearing removes all doubt that Appellant knew the nature of the proceedings and could assist counsel (T.T. 136-174), particularly pp. 155,156 and 158). In short, there is no evidence at trial that Appellant was incompetent and thus there was no basis for the court to on its own motion conduct a competency hearing or to appoint experts to inquire into his competency.

It should be noted that although Dr. Krop's affidavit shows he did examine Appellant on May 19, 1986, his opinion in affidavit form is also based upon portions of the record but not upon the entirety of Appellant's testimony during the various stages of trial. Moreover, the doctor only said there was "substantial evidence" that Appellant was incompetent—not that he in fact was incompetent. The same deficiencies exist with the opinions of Doctors Barnes and Greenberg, dated May 27 and May 28, 1986. (See Appellant's App. B and C). Dr. Barnes' affidavit merely says that based

upon the date he examined, "A full, competent, psychiatric/
psychological evaluation" would be <u>important</u> to "determine
Tommy's state of mind at the relevant stages of the proceedings.
His affidavit does not say Appellant was incompetent or insane.
All the motions and files before this Court show, is that one
psychiatrist has an <u>opinion now</u> that Appellant was incompetent
based upon an examination of incomplete records. The Appellee
urges that the allegations fail to establish entitlement to
relief under <u>Dusky</u> and its progeny. <u>Adams v. Wainwright</u>, 764
F.2d 1356 (11th Cir. 1985) (defendant must show more than evidence that he might have been incompetent and the statements of
counsel, as well as his failure to claim that accused was incompetent, is highly important). Id. at 1360.

The Appellant's claim III that he was denied expert psychiatric witnesses under Ake v. Oklahoma, ___U.S.___, 105 S.Ct. 1087 (1985) is patently frivolous because the attorneys never filed a motion seeking such appointment of experts. To the extent that Appellant argues that counsel were ineffective for not doing so it is submitted they obviously did not feel it was required because the defense was that Appellant did not commit the crimes in question (T 1273-1275, 1306, 1737). See Middleton v. State, 465 So.2d 1218,1224 (Fla. 1985); and Straight v. Wainwright, 422 So.2d 827 (Fla. 1982).

Claim IV was properly rejected because it merely secondguesses counsel's presentation of the denial defense rather

than an intoxication defense which the Appellee submits is inconsistent with the selected defense. Funchess v. Wainwright, 772 F.2d 683 (11th Cir. 1985). This same thing holds true with the alleged failure to present mitigating evidence pertaining to Appellant's childhood history of drug use and his low intelligence raised in Claims X and XII. Porter v. State, 478 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1985); Stone v. State, 481 So.2d 478 (Fla. 1985); Middleton v. State, supra; Straight v. Wainwright, 772 F.2d 674 (11th Cir. 1985); Williams v. Maggio, 679 F.2d 381 (5th Cir. 1982) and Harich v. State, 484 So.2d 1239 (Fla. 1986). must be presumed that counsel decided not to introduce the defenses because they were inconsistent with the chosen defense and that strategy cannot be second-guessed by a court. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Moreover, the Appellant has failed to demonstrate the omissions complained of would probably have changed the outcome of the proceeding. Middleton, supra. The Appellee submits Appellant is engaging in pure "speculation" that it would have produced a different result. Porter v. State.

The Appellant's claim that his rights under <u>Brady</u> [v. <u>Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)] were violated was properly rejected. First, the payment of small sums of money to state witnesses for meals and traveling expenses was not <u>Brady</u> material. Counsel could have learned of this information by merely asking the witnesses. In short, the evidence was not in the exclusive

control of the prosecutor. See: Halliwell v. Strickland,
747 F.2d 607 (11th Cir. 1984); James v. State, 453 So.2d 786
(Fla. 1984). Even if it were Brady material, the undisclosed information was not "material" evidence as recently interpreted by the Supreme Court of the United States in United States v.
Bagley, 473 U.S.____, 87 L.Ed.2d 481 (1985). To be "material" under Bagley it must be shown that it is reasonably probable that the outcome of the trial would have been different had the evidence been disclosed to the defense. Id. at 494.

The Appellant's guilt of the Dalton murder was predicated upon the testimony of Joan Bennett (T.T. 1035-1037) and other corroborative testimony. Counsel for the Appellant vigorously cross-examined the witness and established that she received a reduction of charges from first-degree murder to an accessory after the fact, an offense which carried a maximum of five years imprisonment (T.T. 1048-1052) and that she was released on her own recognizance (T.T. 1051). The Appellee submits that simply because this witness allegedly received \$20 from the prosecutor (Appellant's Appendix P) for food and gas, would not have added one whit to the attempted impeachment of the witness, given that the jury obviously believed her in spite of the substantial benefit given to her by the prosecution. The non-disclosed evidence simply was not "material" under Bagley, James, and United States v. Antone, 603 F.2d 566 (5th Cir. 1979) and thus, even if the hearsay allegations are true, Appellant is entitled to no relief.

The Appellant's claim number IX respecting the competency of Mr. Nichols' advice to him regarding the plea agreement and its consequences is nothing but an attempt to raise the substantive claim raised on appeal in the guise of competency of counsel. Indeed, they cite the same cases cited on direct appeal. in Support of Motion, pp. 60-61). In Sireci, supra, this Court specifically held that "claims previously raised on direct appeal will not be heard on a motion for post-conviction relief simply because those claims are raised under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel." Id. at 120. The contention that Mr. Groover didn't know he even had a choice is absolutely refuted by the record (T.T. 58-68; R 128-185), the trial judge's order on the motion to suppress (R 117-127) and this Court's opinion. The only reason that the complaint regarding Mr. Nichols is now raised is because the Appellant broke the plea agreement which he knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily entered into upon the advice of counsel.

Appellant's claim that Mr. Shore was ineffective for not objecting to the use of the deposition for impeachment purposes (Claim XI) is without legal merit. First, Mr. Shore <u>did</u> object to the use of the deposition by the prosecutor for impeachment purposes (T.T. 1329-1339) and when he was offerred a hearing he declined further than that presented in the argument (T.T. 1339). This was no doubt due to the fact that counsel could not prove Mr. Greene coerced him to give the deposition testimony, any more than he proved that Mr. Greene coerced him to give

the May 17th statement which was found to have been given voluntarily by Judge Oliff. (R 117-127).

Notwithstanding, there was no prejudice simply because the motion admits at page 78 and 79 that there was "no apparent inconsistency between the deposition and the trial testimony" and "the deposition was not at all inconsistent with the testimony Tommy Groover had just given." (Motion at 79.)

Thus, on the face of the motion and the record this alleged deficiency of counsel could not form the basis for relief because there is no likelihood that it affected the outcome of the proceedings and it is not alleged that it did.

entitled to "errorless counsel," Williams v. Maggio, supra, at 392, and competent counsel does not mean counsel who will perceive every conceivable constitutional claim. Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 134 (1982). The Constitution guarantees defendants only a fair trial and a competent attorney under the totality of circumstances. Strickland v. Washington, supra. The Appellant received a fair trial and the attorneys who represented him did so in a reasonably competent manner. Indeed, as in Maggio, counsel "made the best of a bad case" 679 F.2d at 393, and the motion herein is nothing but an attempt to second-guess counsel with the benefit of hindsight, contrary to Strickland v. Washington and Downs v. State, supra. The Appellee's motion to dismiss set out in detail the defense efforts

that were taken on Appellant's behalf and the Appellee submits the record is the best evidence that Mr. Nichols and Mr. Shore zealously although unsuccessfully represented the Appellant. Indeed, Mr. Shore obtained a life recommendation as to the Padgett murder and that surely says something, Porter v. State, supra. Be that as it may, an attorney is not determined to be incompetent because he fails to win his case.

CONCLUSION

The lower court properly denied the motion to vacate judgments and sentences and the order appealed should be affirmed.